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To anyone and everyone who thinks that the stock market
is a substitute for hard work









Foreword


The book you are about to read is a remarkable story of bulls, bears and other beasts such as wolves (in sheep’s clothing) who devour herds of sheep-like investors.


The protagonist is a ‘fictional’ character called Lala who is a close witness to much of the circus of the Indian stock markets over twenty-seven years – from the end of 1988 till late 2015. Lala, who comes from a poor family, starts his career in 1998 as a clerk in the back office of a broker at Bombay Stock Exchange, then becomes a stockjobber, and eventually a wealthy broker with a significant net worth.


Over the course of these decades, Lala takes us through a riveting journey – recounting many of India’s financial scandals, political and economic upheavals, a war with Pakistan, the growth of India’s IT industry, the rise and fall of many companies, their stock market valuations and the reputations of both business owners, managers and ‘market men’.


The book also chronicles the modernization of India’s stock exchanges – from the days of paper trading, 1.5 per cent brokerage rates, an open outcry system of price setting with very high bid-offer spreads, to the modern paperless trading without the need of a stock exchange ‘trading floor’, short settlement cycles and wafer-thin bid-offer spreads and brokerage rates.


We also learn a great deal about human nature – how people game systems, how regulators are almost always behind the crooks who keep evolving faster, how the innocent and the foolish are parted from their money by these crooks, and how perverse incentives in the broking business, investment banking and money management often result in clients getting short-changed.


Take, for example, this excerpt from the book, which reflects on what happened in the 1994 IPO bubble and which made me wonder about what’s happening in India right now:



Merchant banker: Sir, would you like to raise Rs 10–15 crore?


Promoter: Not at the moment.


Merchant banker: But markets won’t be as hot for long. You must raise money when it is available.


Promoter: What is the rate of interest?


Merchant banker: There is none.


Promoter: Really? But I still have to return the money at some point, right?


Merchant banker: No, and that is the beauty of it.


Promoter (suspiciously): You mean, I get the money, I don’t have to pay interest, and I don’t have to return it. Is that what you are saying?


Merchant banker: Exactly.


Promoter: You have got me interested.





As I read this exchange, I was reminded of countless IPO bubbles of the past starting from the South Sea Bubble (chronicled in Charles Mackay’s Extraordinary Popular Delusions and the Madness of Crowds) right up to the one building up in India as I write this.


Dozens of companies that raised money in the 1994 IPO bubble disappeared and I can say with some confidence that the outcome won’t be very different this time either. The outcome is never different.


Human nature does not change. Greed and envy, fear and hubris, and overconfidence have all characterized us for millions of years and these innate traits are not going away. That’s why we will also have scams and booms, busts and crooks, and sheep-like people and wolf-like people. This is the way it’s always been, and this is the way it will always be. A Harshad Mehta will be replaced by a Ketan Parikh and an MS Shoes by some other company. Nothing changes, except the numbers and the characters.


This book provides quite an accurate profile of many such people who were, or are, as real as you and me. You will learn about the mechanisms used by the ‘wolves’ – front running, insider trading, stock price manipulations and promotional behaviour of promoters (what else can we expect them to do except to ‘promote’ their stocks?) of many companies who collected money from IPOs and then vanished (SEBI has recognized and investigated these ‘vanishing companies’.) As you read Lala’s story, you must ask three questions:


1. Will this happen again?


2. What does this remind me of?


3. Why does this remind me of it?


Pattern recognition is a critical component of understanding how the world really works. Historical books like this one provide ample opportunities to recognize the recurring manifestation of hubris and irrationality that lead to the eventual downfall of people and the organizations they run. Bulls, Bears and Other Beasts outlines many such patterns.


The key details of the major incidents covered in the book are factually accurate because of a peculiar habit of the author’s – peculiar at least for modern times. Santosh, who has spent the last twenty-five years as a career journalist (he is presently Executive Editor at CNBCTV18.com and previously was Markets Editor at The Economic Times and Editor of Moneycontrol.com), has been maintaining a daily diary for many years. In this diary, he meticulously records details about important events, interactions and other experiences of his day. (Many years ago, when I first met him over breakfast, he had paused his eating several times during the meal, to make notes in his diary.)


It’s a wonderful habit which, I think, enormously contributed towards the creation of this book. It seems that Santosh, the author, created Lala, the protagonist, to make him tell us what the author had been writing in his diaries all these years. In that sense, Lala is not a fictional character at all!


The book conveys what we need to know about the grim side of Indian equity markets. But there is a bright side too. When the events in this story took place – towards the end of 1998 – Sensex was at the 3,000 mark. By the time the book ends, that is in the last leg of 2015, Sensex had crossed 26,000 points. As I write this foreword, in September 2021, the index has topped 59,000.


The bright side is this: none of those scams, stock price manipulations, the political and economic crisis, war and numerous types of schemes of unethical behaviour by market participants described so well in the book prevented a staggering amount of wealth creation for long-term investors in Indian equity markets. All they had to do was to invest in equities (while exercising adequate caution) and just sit tight and ignore all the circus that takes place inside the stock market. In the aggregate, real wealth was made, not by the crooks, but by long-term investors, who overlooked the cacophony of the stock market and instead focused on the fundamentals of businesses, and that of India.


Perhaps it’s time for Santosh to write another book. This time about the bright side of investing in Indian equities; perhaps about all the ingredients required for wealth creation in public markets for long-term investors – entrepreneurship and innovation, growth and profitability, and good governance. But even if he does not write that book, I encourage you to read this one just to be aware of the dangers of being a participant in Indian equity markets and to not become a sheep fated to be devoured by a wolf.


Sanjay Bakshi


Distinguished Adjunct Professor


Flame University


September 2021
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A Troubled Adolescence


My name is Lalchand – Lal to friends who knew me at school and college, and Lala to friends and acquaintances in the stock market. I was born in 1968 in a nondescript nursing home in Bhandup, a suburb of Mumbai. Father, or Bauji, as I called him, worked at the Bhandup factory of the engineering firm Guest Keen Williams as a plant technician till his retirement in 1992.


My parents were originally from Jaipur, and had moved to Mumbai under difficult circumstances, the details of which are not relevant to the story I am about to narrate. At the time of my birth, they were staying in the Shivram Singh chawl, off the arterial Jangal Mangal Road in Bhandup West. Bauji was just about able to make ends meet in those days, and having to provide temporary lodging for job-seeking relatives from Jaipur strained his meagre resources further. His generosity irked Ma at times, as it would fall to her to manage the house on a shoestring monthly budget.


I got into bad company early on – not my fault entirely, when you consider the environment I was exposed to in the chawl, located as it was in one of the crime-infested suburbs of the city. But looking back, I feel I was always inclined to get on the wrong side of the law, despite the decent upbringing my parents provided me.


I studied in National Education Society, among the better schools in Bhandup at the time, and well known for its Hitler-like principal whose very sight had the boys running for cover. Bauji had managed my admission through a well-connected friend of his.


When I was twelve, we moved into a one-room kitchen flat in a newly constructed building not far from our chawl. Bauji had to really stretch himself financially to buy the flat. But he was determined to move out of the chawl, not so much out of any desire to move up the social ladder as much as from the realization that the chawl was not a place where his children should grow up. He was aware that I was moving around in wrong company.


The change of locality made little difference to my delinquent ways. By the time I was in the ninth standard, I had already tasted hard liquor and had taken a liking to the occasional cigarette. My buddies at school were Arthur and Shankar, both a year senior to me, but two years older in age, having flunked the ninth standard. Arthur was a violent boy, always spoiling for a brawl. Shankar was cool-headed, but the strongest of us and also the cruellest.


Shankar used to moonlight for Babu, brother of municipal corporator Kim Bahadur Thapa who was later killed in a gangwar in 1991. I was taller than most boys my age and of decent build too. But more importantly, I had what Shankar used to call ‘daring’. Looking back, I shudder at the crazy things I did in those years.


Shankar ran petty errands for Babu, which meant intimidating hawkers who did not pay up, keeping a close watch on or beating up people at Babu’s command, buying him groceries and other such things. Arthur and I assisted Shankar in his assignments.


I was an average student but was good at Maths. It was Bauji’s cherished desire to see me become an engineer. He had not studied beyond the twelfth standard, but had a good technical bent of mind and was an expert at repairing gadgets, from radios to kitchen taps.


‘You know, beta, seeing me fix a fault at the factory, trainee engineers often ask which engineering college I am from. I tell them that I am not an engineer, but some day my son will become one,’ he said more than once at the dinner table.


But gradually, his hopes faded as word of my exploits slowly got to him. As with every father, there was the initial disbelief when he learnt of my misdeeds.


I was in standard ten when my father smelt alcohol on me. He had long suspected it but the reality unsettled him. Later that night I heard him tell Ma that unless he took some drastic steps, I would ruin my life and theirs too. What probably helped him stay sane through the trouble I was causing him was that my brother Satish and sister Anju were shaping up well academically.


Within a month of the alcohol episode, Bauji sold off the flat in Bhandup, and we moved into a rented house in Dombivli. I was halfway through my last school year, but Bauji had decided that I was not to set foot in Bhandup so long as he could help it. Using some connections, he managed to get me admission in the South Indian Association High School in Dombivli West.


Our moving house caused more inconvenience to my father than to me, since he now had to commute more than half an hour in a crowded local train to reach his factory, whereas previously it took him less than ten minutes by a BEST bus.


The new school was not to my liking, but I had little say in the matter. An overwhelming majority of the students were south Indian, and so were the staff. There was a bully or two in every class, and some mawaali types as well, but they were a far cry from the Shankars and Arthurs I had got to know so well.


I was slow when it came to making new friends, and perhaps that helped me focus on my studies. I scored 71 per cent in my SSC, which even in those days was not good enough to ensure admission to the science course in any of the reputed colleges. Not that I was keen on taking up Science, but it had been my father’s dream to see me become an engineer. But by now Bauji too had realized he would not be able to pay the hefty donations that almost every decent engineering college – barring the top two or three – demanded. He had some money left from the sale of our Bhandup house, but it was too much of a gamble for him to stake that money on my academic career.


So that Bauji did not nurse any false hopes for me and set himself up for further disappointment, I confessed to him that I lacked the aptitude for science and would be more comfortable studying commerce, or any of the arts subjects.


He did not try to change my mind, and after consulting some friends and relatives, advised me to take up commerce. Truth be told, Bauji’s decision to shift to Dombivli was not a sound one. It could have easily backfired on him but for an unexpected twist of events.


Because of massive real estate development in the suburb, Dombivli soon became a thriving ground for thugs and other antisocial elements. Street fights were common, and so was extortion in public view. Disputes over land led to the rise of organized gangs, and rival groups periodically took on each other in broad daylight with crude revolvers, hockey sticks and cycle chains. In many ways, Dombivli was turning out to be worse than Bhandup on the crime graph.


For somebody like me, who could be provoked easily and was not averse to violence, it was a struggle to stay out of trouble and resist the lure of bad company. I had learnt a few things during my association with Shankar and Arthur, and more than once it crossed my mind to moonlight for one of the local dadas of Dombivli.


But the enormous daily inconvenience that Bauji was enduring just to keep me on the straight and narrow somehow stirred my conscience. That Satish and Anju still looked up to me embarrassed me, and yet I was pressured by what I thought was my responsibility towards them. Torn inwardly, I kept to a small group of friends and to my studies in college.


I was in the twelfth standard when Bauji had an accident at the factory that left him physically disabled for a while. It would be ten months before Bauji was able to get back to work. The last two and a half months of his confinement at home were without pay. That period was very tough on all of us, emotionally as well as financially; at one stage, we were not sure if his foot would recover fully to enable him to resume work as before.


This incident snuffed out whatever little temptation I had left for murky adventures. The last thing I wanted to do was add to the problems at home.


I worked as an assistant in a revolving library called Yogayog near Dombivli railway station for some months. The money was not much, but every rupee counted at that time. The best thing about the job was it introduced me to the world of books. Until then, I had not really enjoyed reading. I used to put in four hours daily at the library, and with enough spare time on my hands, gradually took to reading. I began with the thrillers and graduated to the classics. My reading habit that I accidentally picked up grew stronger over the years and was to help me immensely in my career in the stock market.


An attempt to seek my fortune in the Gulf after graduation ended in disappointment. Bauji had paid a recruitment agent Rs 15,000 for a clerical position for me in a trading firm in Dubai, but the agent never delivered on his promise. Left with little choice, I briefly assumed my old avatar to get him to cough up our money. Of course, unknown to Bauji, because I knew he would have severely disapproved.


I then worked as a trainee accountant in a chemicals firm at Fort for a few months, but the job was not to my liking. However, I could hardly afford to be choosy, given that financially our nose was just above water.


Call it coincidence or the hand of destiny at work, I bumped into Pradeep Mohan, my classmate in college, as I was lunching at my regular food stall one day. We had only been casual acquaintances in college, but we got chatting as though we had been thick friends back then.


Pradeep was working in the back office of a stockbroker, and his job was to maintain client records after the trades were done on the floor of the stock exchange. We caught up over lunch regularly after that first meeting, and a good rapport developed between us. He loved to talk, and I was a good listener. He would paint a vivid picture of the happenings in the stock market for me; about how fortunes were made and lost in a matter of hours, about the guile and the ruthless ways of big brokers, and the sway they held over powerful industrialists. But what caught my attention was his remark that one did not need a fancy degree or even formal education to succeed in the stock market. With a bit of skill, perseverance and, most importantly, luck, there was no limit to the money one could make from trading in shares. On my commute back home, I often reflected on my lunchtime conversations with Pradeep.
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The Road to Dalal Street


When we had known each other for over a month, I asked Pradeep if he could arrange a job for me at a broker’s office. My request seemed to have caught him off guard, and I suspect his initial hesitation may have had to do with the fear of losing a willing listener.


From whatever little I had understood about the stock market from Pradeep, I was clear about one thing – I did not want to work in a broker’s back office checking share certificates, settling accounts and shuffling paper. I wanted to be in the midst of the action on the trading floor, shouting orders to buy and sell shares.


At the same time, I was aware that my path to the trading ring would have to start from a broker’s back office. I prevailed on Pradeep to get me any job in a broker’s office. Seeing my determination, he finally gave in. He seemed to have also sensed that I had bigger things in mind despite a willingness to start small.


‘I don’t know what big plans you may have in mind, Lal, but don’t be reckless,’ he told me, after he had secured a job for me with one of the lesser-known brokerage firms.


‘There are plenty of rags-to-riches stories on Dalal Street that get talked about often. What does not get publicized as much are the riches-to-rags stories, which far outnumber the success stories. People get carried away, thinking it is easy to make money in the stock market, and learn the truth the hard way,’ he said.


I knew Pradeep was speaking the truth, but I did not want to be weighed down by fear of failure so early in my career. If a steady job with a steady salary had been my goal, I would have been content with my job in the chemicals firm.


It was in the dying days of 1988 that I began a new chapter in my professional career. Shares had not caught the imagination of retail investors in a big way yet, though awareness about investing in them was steadily on the rise. Easy money had been made by the lucky few who had subscribed to the initial public offerings of some of the best multinational corporations like Colgate, Hindustan Lever, Cadbury, Ponds and the like in the late 1970s and early 1980s. The market was controlled by a group of powerful brokers who mostly speculated on stocks using their own money. Within this group, a smaller subset had the lion’s share of whatever institutional business existed in those days. Other than these brokers, the major players in the market were the domestic institutions – Unit Trust of India being the Big Daddy of them all – and the promoters of companies themselves. In terms of the size of investment corpus, the Life Insurance Corporation was bigger than UTI, but it did not invest in equities as aggressively as UTI did. Foreign institutional investors (FIIs) would start flocking to India in a big way only 1993 onwards.


Brokerage rates were a princely 1.5 per cent at that time, which in some ways seemed justified because of the complications with physical shares. Despite the juicy commissions, brokers were careful about whom they would accept as clients as there were many dubious operators who would sell them fake shares. These would be detected only when the buyer sent them to the company to get them transferred to their ownership. The seller’s broker would then have to replace the lot or refund the money to the buyer; and if his client did not oblige, he would have to make good the loss himself. That is why you needed somebody to recommend you to a broker before he would accept you as a client.


Investment based on the fundamentals of a company was still in its infancy. A big reason for this was the lack of sufficient publicly available information on companies. Whatever little information was available was from their balance sheets, which were dated by the time they came into the hands of the shareholders. And few brokerages, even when they were shareholders, sent representatives to the annual general meetings of companies, which were probably the only platform available to shareholders to meet up with managements and quiz them on their business. Still, many brokerages would claim they were the first ones to recommend stocks to their clients based on their meticulous research of companies and their sectors.


A lot of what passed off as ‘research’ in those days would constitute insider trading today. One heavyweight speculator-cum-investor-cum-broker of that era managed to get a job for his relative in an auto-component firm in which he owned shares and traded in them frequently. The relative would pass on details of the firm’s monthly production figures to the broker, who in turn used the information to trade in the stock.


More than stock market professionals, company promoters used to speculate heavily in their own shares, All of them had their favoured brokers, known as ‘house brokers’, who came to be known as proxies for the promoters in the market even if they were not always trading on their behalf. A skilled market player could observe the size and pattern of trades made by these brokers and figure out if they were acting on behalf of company promoters or other clients.


UTI’s business was crucial to the prosperity of any brokerage firm worth its salt. Since UTI dealt in large blocks of shares most of the time, there was good money to be earned by way of commission. But for many unscrupulous brokers, the big money did not lie in commissions; it was to be made by front-running UTI’s trades.


Unscrupulous brokers who got buy orders for shares from UTI would first buy some of the same shares for themselves. Naturally, the price of these shares would rise in the market when UTI’s orders were getting executed in the market. At this point, these brokers would sell the shares they had bought for themselves at a profit.


If it was a sell order from UTI for a stock, the brokers would short-sell the same stock in their personal capacity. Short selling means selling shares without owning them, in the hope that share prices will fall and that you will be able to buy them back cheap and deliver them to the buyer on the trade settlement day. The brokers would later cover their short positions – that is, buy back the same shares they had sold, but at a lower price – as UTI’s sell orders in the market weakened the stock price.


For brokers without orders from UTI, the next best thing to do was to find out what UTI was up to and try to copy those trades. Due to UTI’s dominant position, brokers were forever queuing up at its office on Marine Lines in Mumbai after market hours. Many brokers were empanelled with UTI, but the cream of the orders went to a select few. Tales abounded of how some brokers were able to consistently get orders from UTI by giving expensive gifts to the officials in the investments department.


Reliance Industries, ACC, Grasim, Bajaj Auto, Century Textiles, ITC, GE Shipping, Century Enka, Castrol, TELCO (Tata Electric Locomotive Company then, and Tata Motors now), TISCO (Tata Iron and Steel Company), Tata Tea and Tata Chemicals were among the most actively traded stocks of those days.


Nemish Shah, Manu Manek and Ajay Kayan were the high rollers, revered by market players for their ability to make or break a stock. Manu Manek was more feared than respected because he could be downright ruthless to further his business interests. It could be safely said that, as the biggest badla financier on the exchange floor, Manubhai was the final arbiter of the interest rate to be paid by the bulls for carrying forward their trades to the next settlement. He had no qualms about hammering down the price of the very stock he had financed for a bull operator. Manubhai, who was considered something of a mini-stock exchange himself, could quickly figure out a bull operator’s capacity to support the stock he was operating. If the operator was weak, Manek would short-sell the stock. And once the operator made a distress sale, Manek would buy back the shares cheaper than he had sold them for, making a tidy profit in the process.


He had an uncanny ability to commit hundreds of trades to memory. While in the ring, he rarely noted down his trades in the sauda pad (deal sheet), even though he dealt in multiple stocks. At the end of the day, he would get back to his office and dictate the trades to his clerks.


And he had one more strong point – an excellent rapport with the key officials in the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) employees’ union. Call it a coincidence, but whenever Manek was in a tight spot over a trade, there would be a flash strike by the employees’ union, and the settlement would get extended by a few days, helping him buy time.


Manek was fearless enough – or reckless, as the subsequent turn of events would show – to take on Dhirubhai Ambani by leading a bear raid on the shares of Reliance Industries. The bear cartel heavily short-sold Reliance Industries, aiming to break the stock price. There are two versions of the story, and I am not sure which one is true. One has it that it was a planned operation by Manek to assert to Dhirubhai his hold on the stock market. The other has it that Reliance’s treasury department (which deploys the funds of the company in various financial instruments to get the best returns) had borrowed money from Manu Manek to make stock market investments. Manek is said to have goaded his associates to target Reliance shares, saying the company was financially vulnerable. He also made some disparaging remarks about Dhirubhai for good measure.


Bears won the initial round as the stock price flagged under their relentless onslaught. But they had not bargained for an equally fierce counter-attack led by Anand Jain, Dhirubhai’s key lieutenant. Jain and his associates took over the positions of the brokers and traders who had bought Reliance Industries shares, and also themselves bought as many shares as they could from the market. On the other side of these trades was the bear cartel, which had short-sold Reliance shares or sold shares they never owned in the first place. As the share price started to climb because of the demand created by Jain and his associates, the bears tried to get out of their positions by buying shares from the market. But the shares were in short supply, as most of them had been bought up by Jain and company, and the bears’ attempts to square up their positions only sent the stock price shooting up further.


The bears thought they could buy time by paying an interest charge to the bulls on settlement day to carry forward their trades to the next settlement. They were still convinced that if they hung on to their positions for a bit longer, the price movement would reverse in their favour. But the ‘buyers’ of Reliance shares refused the offer of interest payment, and insisted that the bears deliver the shares, fully aware that they would not be able to. Frantic buying by the bears to square up their positions further drove up the stock price. The crisis led to the stock exchange itself being closed for a few days as the bears could not deliver the shares and the bulls would not settle for anything else.


A truce was worked out eventually, but not before a few bears were bankrupted and the legendary Manu Manek forced to eat humble pie.


In comparison with Manubhai, Nemish and Kayan kept a far more low profile. Kayan was more active on the Calcutta Stock Exchange than on the BSE. He was also a dominant player in the opaque world of the money market. Before long, Kayan would be locked in a pitched battle with Harshad Mehta in both the money and stock markets. It was a tussle that would alter the landscape of the Indian financial markets forever.


As for Nemish Shah, he was slowly making a transition from being a speculator and broker to a value investor, and even playing mentor to some budding speculators, at least one of whom would, down the years, become more famous than his guru. Shah’s firm Enam Securities was among the reputed brokerages on BSE. Shah himself had been a protégé of Manu Manek at one time, and had learnt the ropes of the trade from him.


All this while, Harshad Mehta’s stars were on the ascent. He was an important player, well known in market circles, but not yet a heavyweight in the same league as Kayan, Shah or Manu Manek.
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Learning the Nuts and Bolts


The brokerage firm for which I was working was not as inconsequential as I had initially thought. It was just that the owner liked to keep a low profile. And, exactly for this reason, some corporations and institutions preferred to deal with him. I worked in the back office, filling the share transfer deeds for buying clients and following up on deliveries to be made by selling clients. This way, I got to learn exactly who was selling or buying what shares. In the shallow market of those days, this information was valuable, since some of our clients were important players in the market.


My salary as a back office clerk was Rs 2,000 a month, about the same that I earned at my previous job. But I had no doubt that I had chosen the right path, even if it did call for a bit of luck to hit the first milestone I had set for myself.


My job was monotonous, but I did it with utmost dedication as I saw it as a stepping stone to the trading ring where the real action lay. After office hours, I would attempt to make friends with my counterparts in some of the other important brokerage firms. Though I was a reserved person, I began to realize the importance of being well networked, even if I was starting small.


My hard work was not lost on the owner of the firm, and he felt I could be used better than just as a paper sorter at the back office. A broker could have seven of his dealers in the trading ring, apart from himself. Orders placed by clients over the telephone to the broker’s office would be conveyed to the dealers on the trading floor, who would then execute the trades. Before the days of the hotline, brokerage firms had runners who would rush to the trading floor to relay orders.


When one of our dealers quit, I was asked if I would be interested in taking his place. I agreed, taking care not to show my excitement. I knew my boss was testing me out. He liked employees who worked hard but was wary of the overenthusiastic types.


Initially, my job on the floor was to answer the hotline and convey the order details to the senior dealers who would be scouting around for good bargains. For one month I was assigned to a senior, and had to observe him as he negotiated deals with brokers and jobbers.


A jobber is a professional speculator, and buys and sells shares for himself. He does not have any clients. His business is to speculate on which way prices are moving and make a quick profit on it. He does not want to buy shares and keep them for the long term as investors do. But, to do business on the floor of the stock exchange, he needs to have a broker as a sponsor. He shares a part of his profit with the broker under a pre-decided agreement.


You could say that in a way he acts as an agent of the broker. If the jobber defaults on a deal, the broker is held responsible by the stock exchange. Brokers, therefore, choose jobbers with care. Jobbers were an important source of liquidity, and brokers would always deal through them.


In those days, there were ‘counters’ for individual stocks. Jobbers and brokers dealing in Reliance shares would gather at a certain spot, those dealing in Tata Iron and Steel shares at another spot, and so on. ‘A’ group shares, in which a buyer or seller could carry forward trades to the next settlement by paying an interest charge known as badla, were called vaida. ‘B’ group shares, which were not eligible for carry-forward, were called rokda (cash) since they had to be settled at the end of the fortnightly settlement cycle, either with the positions being squared off or with the shares being delivered.


There was a public address system on every floor of the stock exchange building, on which would be broadcast the prices of mostly A group stocks, and sometimes B group stocks if there were big moves on them, corporate results and other important company announcements. For a price, brokers could get an extension of that system so that they could hear the broadcast sitting in their offices. Brokerages wanting to save on costs would usually station one of their employees in the corridor of the exchange so that they could alert their offices about important announcements.


The trading ring was on the first floor. Outside both the first and second floors were huge blackboards on which an employee of the stock exchange would write down the prices of the most actively traded stocks, updating them every thirty minutes. The official would collate the prices by talking to the main brokers and jobbers to find out what prices they had bought or sold for. After he had updated the prices on the blackboard, he would trade places with his colleague who had been broadcasting the prices. That official would then head for the ring and update the blackboard after half an hour.


Around half past five in the evening, the stock exchange would publish the ‘bhav copy’, a report listing the high, low and closing prices of the stocks traded that day. It was not done very scientifically, but it was broadly reliable. Its compilation was done by means of a stock exchange official collecting the prices by talking to the brokers and jobbers, and checking their sauda pads (which were issued by BSE and bore its stamp) if necessary.


The stock exchange issued only a limited number of bhav copies, so there was always a scramble to get them. Some ingenious players found a way to profit from this by taking photocopies of the bhav copy and selling them outside the stock exchange for a few rupees.


After trading hours there operated an unofficial market for some of the more liquid stocks. This was called the kerb market and, true to its name, the dealings were conducted on the street outside the stock exchange. The prices in the kerb market would be at a premium or discount based on the closing prices on the stock exchange, depending on the sentiment and events. There were players who specialized in kerb market deals and did not trade much in the regular market. When they did deal in the regular market, it was mostly to put through the trades that were struck over the phone or on the kerb the previous day.


The specialist kerb traders had their representatives on the street where the business was transacted, taking orders from clients. Right outside the erstwhile Lalit Restaurant on Ambalal Doshi Marg, parallel to Dalal Street, was where the kerb deals were conducted. Activity on the kerb would rise to a feverish pitch during market-moving events. During such times, it was near impossible to navigate the sea of humanity on that street without being pushed around.


Of all the players in the stock market, it was the jobber whose role fascinated me the most. I would closely observe them as my seniors negotiated trades with them. A jobber helped create liquidity in a stock by offering two-way quotes and also helped in price discovery. He took on the risk, confident that he would be able to sell whatever he bought and buy back whatever he sold. But for this breed of players, it would have been difficult for genuine buyers and sellers to transact with ease.


A jobber would buy from you at a rate lower than what he would sell to you for, and the difference or ‘spread’ as it was known, would be his profit. The spread quoted by the jobber would depend on the quantity of shares you wanted to buy from him or sell to him – the smaller the quantity, the less the spread, and the bigger the quantity, the wider the spread. A jobber had to ask for a higher spread while dealing in big quantities since the risk he took was higher.


To be a successful jobber, one had to be very good at mental arithmetic. If you were jobbing in more than one or two stocks, then your skills needed to be even sharper. That is because you were carrying an inventory of shares at all times, irrespective of whether you were long (had a buy position) or short (had a sell position) on a stock.


It was not just enough to remember the number of shares you were long or short on; you had to remember the average buying or selling cost of those shares. That in turn would decide the bid-ask spread (‘bid’ is the price quoted by the buyer and ‘ask’ by the seller) a jobber quoted.


Jobbers would note down their deals on their sauda pads, but sometimes, when there was frenzied trading, a jobber would be doing trades in rapid succession and not get enough time to write all of his deals down. He could also be trading in more than one stock, making his task even more complex. It was in these situations that a jobber’s skills were tested to the maximum. I knew of expert jobbers who could memorize their inventory and the average price of trades in nearly two dozen stocks without having to check their deal pads.


A good jobber also had to be a skilled psychologist. It required him to be able to size up a prospective counterparty and gauge whether he was a likely buyer or seller. His profit margin would hinge on his ability at this. No counterparty would reveal whether, and how much, he wanted to buy or sell. All he would do was ask for quotes from the jobber.


A typical conversation between the two would run on these lines:



‘What is the quote for Arvind Mills?’


‘57-60.’ (I will buy from you at 57 and sell to you at 60) ‘What quantity is this valid for?’


‘500 shares.’


‘I want to sell 500 shares.’


‘Okay, bought 500 shares from you at 57.’


‘Does your quote hold good for another 500?’


‘Yes.’


‘Okay, I want to sell another 500 shares.’


‘Bought 500 from you at 57.’


‘I want to sell another 500. What’s your quote?’


‘56-59.’


‘Okay, I am selling 500 more to you.’


‘Bought 500 from you at 56.’


‘How about 500 more?’


‘55-58.’





As the client keeps selling more, the jobber will keep lowering the bid-ask quotes, but not necessarily the spread, which will remain Rs 3. That is because the jobber is now running up a plus-position, and his profit will depend on how cheap he can get the shares.


A good jobber will move in and out of positions as many times as he can for a small profit each time. His aim is to make a decent profit through a series of small profits instead of through one giant trade.


The more heavily traded the stock, the smaller will be the jobber’s spread, because there will be plenty of buyers and sellers. For an illiquid stock, the spread would be wider, and at times even outrageous if a jobber enjoyed a near monopoly in that stock. There were different categories of jobbers, depending on the risk they were willing to take.


A jobber also had to have the instinct to figure out who the ultimate buyer or seller of the shares he dealt in was likely to be. Sometimes the counterparty would have information the jobber was not privy to, and the jobber might end up buying or selling a stock, unaware that the die was loaded against him.


A broker transacting with a jobber could be acting on his own behalf, or on behalf of a retail client, an institution or even the promoter of the company whose shares he was trading in. When a promoter is behind a deal, he may not necessarily be capitalizing on some inside information. But if he is, then the jobber would likely be in for trouble.


A jobber was always in demand because brokers preferred to deal with him rather than with each other. Since jobbers played for small profit margins by trading as many times as possible, brokers had the comfort that they would not be overcharged. Most jobbers had to get out of their positions quickly enough, even if it meant taking a smaller profit, since their ability to absorb losses was limited. Rarely did they carry positions to the next day.


There was an unwritten rule that brokers would not try to make a big profit at the expense of the jobber because that could ruin him. At the same time, the jobber too had to respect the confidentiality of the broker dealing with him. If a broker was buying on behalf of a promoter using some inside information or buying a huge block of shares for an institution, he would, after the trade, casually tell the jobber something like, ‘Don’t keep your position open for too long,’ or ‘Take your profit and move on quickly.’


This meant that more buying or selling was coming and that the price could see a sharp move. Of course, the broker had to trust the jobber enough to let him in on such information. An honest jobber would then try to close out his position quickly and not take up a position on the same side as the broker so as to profit from the information.


Brokers looking to buy or sell large blocks were often at the mercy of jobbers, and it was to the credit of the jobbing community that a great majority of them did not misuse this power. As mentioned earlier, the quote offered by a jobber was valid only for a certain quantity of shares. Beyond that quantity, a buyer or seller would have to move on to the next jobber or trust the same jobber’s ability to source the extra shares or dispose of the remaining shares, as the case may be.


There was a dangerous and hated breed of jobbers called ‘robbers’. Though they were in a minority, they were financially strong and had the wherewithal to hold on to large positions. The code of honour and unwritten rules among trading members mattered little to these ‘robbers’, whose only motive was to earn maximum profit even if it came at the expense of their clients.


Despite knowing the ‘robbers’ were dishonest, brokers often had to deal with these characters for buying or selling large blocks of shares. If a broker was looking to buy a big chunk of shares, the ‘robber’ would corner as much of the same stock as he could, to sell to the broker for an exorbitant profit. Similarly, if the broker wanted to sell a big lot of shares, the ‘robber’ would sell ahead of him at a high price, and then buy the shares cheap from the broker.


Two such ‘robbers’, AS and PS, had earned notoriety for their practice of exploiting the counterparty at every opportunity. Funnily, AS and PS did not trust each other either. Occasionally, they would buy from and sell shares to each other. I was told that they would peek into each other’s sauda pads to ensure that the correct details had been entered. And yet, many brokers dealt with them once in a while because AS and PS could procure or dispose of large blocks of shares. And because the duo had deep pockets and were big risk takers too, they could hold on to those positions for a few days or even weeks, till they found another counterparty to square up the trades.


Despite the combined curses of many a client weighing on them, AS and PS have done very well for themselves. Karma is yet to pay them a visit as I write this story.
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The trades done on the floor of the exchange had to be entered in the sauda pad. Every sheet in the sauda pad had five columns for five details about the deals – the clearing number of the broker one has dealt with, whether shares were bought or sold, the name of the stock, the quantity of shares, and the price at which the deal was done. Disputes would arise if one broker erred in recording the quantity of shares or the nature of the transaction (buy or sell) in his sauda pad. The stock exchange would then issue an objection memo, known as the vaanda kaapli, to the two members and ask them to sort out their disagreement. There was a deadline for resolution of the dispute, and the two parties would meet face to face to come to an agreement. In the majority of the cases, the two parties would know each other fairly well, so the resolution was rarely acrimonious. Sometimes you had to give an inch and sometimes you would get an inch.


Looking back, the manner in which disputes were settled in those days appears laughable. Sometimes, the broker who was in the right would produce witnesses who had been standing next to them as the disputed trade was being done. The other broker, if unable to give counter-evidence, would have to accept his mistake.


The colour of the sauda pad itself contained information about the traders. Broker-owners had pink sauda pads, while their employees and jobbers had blue ones. If the two parties failed to arrive at an agreement, the pink sauda pad would prevail, more often than not, since a broker was accorded a higher weightage in the caste system of the stock exchange.


Though none of these methods were foolproof, they worked pretty well most of the time for market players to trust the system.









4


The Tricks of the Trade


I became good friends with Bunty who was managing the treasury operations of a leading non-banking finance company (NBFC) of the time.


One day he came up to me with an unusual request.


‘Lala, I want you to find out what jobber M is up to in the Colgate stock.’


‘What exactly are you looking for?’ I asked him.


‘He is accumulating the stock for somebody, and I am keen to know how much he has bought so far. Even better if he can tell you whom he is buying for,’ Bunty said.


‘M is a seasoned jobber, why would he let me in on the secret?’ I asked.


‘I am not saying he will tell you straightaway. But there may be a way to get it out of him; I am willing to pay up to Rs 10,000 for the information,’ Bunty replied.


‘Seems a tough task, because M is quite discreet about his trades, and I have not heard of any underhand dealings by him,’ I said.


‘Maybe you are right. But figure out a way if you can,’ Bunty said.


That he was willing to pay Rs 10,000 for just information told me how crucial the information was to him.


The following day, I hovered around M to sneak a peek at his sauda pad. That did not work. I then tried chatting up M when he was a bit free. But M clammed up as soon I casually mentioned Colgate. He rightly suspected that I was up to something. I did not want to play my final card – an outright bribe of Rs 10,000 for revealing his position in Colgate. If the move backfired I would lose face, not just with him, but with his friends and associates too. I again tried to peep into his sauda pad, but by now he was certain that I was prying around for information on his Colgate trades. He held his sauda pad close to his chest and shot me a dirty look.


The only thing left for me to do was to get back to Bunty and tell him I had been unsuccessful. I knew Bunty would not hold it against me, but I did not want to give up so easily. A stock exchange clerk by the name of Rajesh, with whom I had become friendly of late, travelled most days by the same local as I did after work. I told him about my requirement and promised him money if he could fish out the details. Rajesh promised to do something about it. Two days later he got me the details. I suspect he sourced them from one of the officials who was privy to the scribblings on the jobbers’ sauda pads. I paid Rajesh Rs 5,000 for the information.


Later that evening I met Bunty over drinks to give him the information he had asked for. He was very pleased and, in fact, surprised that I had managed to get it for him. ‘But this is going to cost you, Bunty; I had to pay Rs 20,000 to get this piece of information because I had to tap more than one source,’ I told him, after we had downed a couple of pegs.


Bunty took a sip of his drink and gave me a knowing smile. I realized he had caught my bluff. ‘No problem, Lala. You shall get the balance,’ he said, and then added as an afterthought, ‘You are smarter than I thought, you sure will go far.’


It was more a back-handed compliment than a well-meaning one. But I had formed the first of the many rules I would set for myself over the years. Rule number one: if you are dealing straight, you’ll get the same from me. And if you are looking to steal . . . I will deal with you likewise.


Bunty came up with similar requests a few more times, and on each occasion Rajesh passed on the required information to me. I did make good money on these deals, but my firm gained too as Bunty routed more of his trades through us.
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There was an auction system on BSE. When a seller failed to deliver shares on settlement day, his position would be auctioned. BSE would put up the details of the undelivered shares on the notice board, and other brokers could tender shares to the clearing house. Offering brokers would quote a premium to the last traded price, and the lowest offer would be accepted by the clearing house. Sometimes, when a broker or his client defaulted on delivery and the market got wind of it, rivals would push up the price of that stock in the market and then offer shares at the auction at a huge premium.


The AS-PS pair had a near monopoly in this market. The details of the best offers in the auction were not disclosed by the stock exchange. But I learnt from my circle of back office friends that AS-PS managed to put in the winning quotes most of the time, whenever a chunky lot of shares came up for auction. I thought over the possible reasons for this. The straightforward reason could be that they had a robust inventory of shares that allowed them to participate in the auctions more often than other brokers. The other likely reason was that AS and PS got information about rival offers from an insider, allowing them to adjust their offers accordingly.


I had dealt with AS-PS a few times on the floor, and the experience was far from agreeable if not downright unpleasant. Their smugness was annoying, and on a couple of occasions they drove hard bargains, aware that I was trying to get my clients out of a difficult situation.


Once, after having being shortchanged in a deal, I made some nasty remarks about them behind their backs. Word of it got to them somehow, but they seemed more delighted by my discomfiture than offended at my choice of words to describe them.


One day they approached me just as trading for the day ended.


‘How was the day, Lala? Made some good money for your clients?’ AS greeted me with his usual, oily smile. I found it harder to tolerate AS’s fake humility than his partner’s brusqueness.


‘Could have been better,’ I replied, knowing they were getting at something else.


‘Still sore with us for the way we got the better of you in the last deal?’ AS said, trying to rub it in.


I felt my temper rising but had to keep it in check. After all, they were powerful players.


‘You should be a bit more sporting, son, you have a long way to go and lots to learn; more importantly, you should be respectful of your seniors,’ AS went on, in as patronizing a tone as he could assume.


‘I have the highest respect for you both, in fact you both are my role models. I hope to become like you someday,’ I said with a smile, giving as good as I got.


‘Arre Lala, you say one thing to our face and something else behind our back. Just because you were not smart enough to get a good price from us for Ambuja, you think we are **###%^ about who will go to the extent of selling our own mothers for an extra profit? Isn’t that what you are going around telling people about us?’ AS said, still smiling.


‘I think somebody is misinforming you. I don’t recollect having said anything like that,’ I said with a straight face.


It was now PS’s turn to needle me.


‘If you said that, be man enough to admit it. Even otherwise, it doesn’t matter what you think of us. There are too many amateurs like you who don’t know the first thing about trading and go around whining when they are beaten,’ he said, resting his palm on my shoulder. The tone in which he spoke suggested he would have loved to punch me in the face. I bristled, but tried hard to keep my wits about me.


After that incident, I kept away from them as far as possible. The few times we ran into each other in the ring, it was an effort for us to be mutually civil. PS would glower at me and AS would have a mocking grin ready for me.


But I could not live down the humiliating exchange I had had with them. And when I heard about the domination AS-PS enjoyed in the delivery auction market, I sensed an opportunity to get under their skin. To cut a long story short, I managed to befriend an official in that department using Rajesh’s network.


The offers for the auction were submitted in a sealed envelope to the concerned department of the stock exchange.


I went up to my boss and told him that I had figured out a way for our clients as well as the firm to make good money by tendering shares in the auction. Our clients had been regularly participating in the auction process, but with limited success. I did not tell my boss how I planned to swing things in our favour. All I told him was that it would cost money. He trusted me well now, and instructed the accountant to give me up to Rs 10,000 whenever I asked for it.


My contact in the department would tip me off about the offers. I was smart enough not to be greedy and draw attention to myself. I would select two or three stocks that offered us a good chance to make a neat profit, and would quote offers accordingly. Twice, I quoted 10 paise below offers put in by AS and twice I did that with PS’s offers too. On each of these occasions, there was a large chunk of shares involved. My clients and my firm made a killing on those deals while AS and PS were left scratching their heads trying to figure out how they were being undercut and by whom.


I must add here that I was quite inspired by the movie Trishul in which Amitabh Bachchan’s construction firm undercuts Sanjeev Kumar’s firm’s quotation by one rupee, leaving the latter fuming.


The financial loss hurt AS-PS, no doubt, but what galled them even more was the challenge to their dominance. They made some inquiries and figured out who was stealing their lunch. Naturally, they were mad enough to want to kill me. They could not confront me on this matter because the exchange did not publish the successful offers, and they did not want to explain how they found me out either.


But they let me know that they were aware of what I was up to.


‘Hello Lala,’ AS greeted me one day as I passed him in the ring. ‘Your clients must be quite happy with you, considering the profits you have helped them earn in TISCO and Century.’


I was caught unawares, and my surprise showed. I had undercut AS on both those stocks – it had been 10 paise, as usual. AS stared at me for a few seconds and then walked off without saying anything more.


PS was less subtle when I bumped into him the following day. I tried to avoid him, but he sidled up to me and put his arm around my shoulder as if we were the best of friends. But what he had to say was anything but friendly.


‘I have said this once in the past and I shall repeat it again since you seem to have trouble understanding my message. Don’t mess with your fathers in the industry, Lala, you could get hurt,’ he said, and moved on. As threats went, it could not get more explicit than this.


A couple of weeks later, the duo accosted me just as I was about to get into the ring for the day.


‘Saale *%#@! you think you are smart, don’t you? How the *^$# can your firm regularly offer ten paise below our quotes?’ AS asked menacingly.


‘I don’t know what the hell you are talking about,’ I said, trying to stay calm.


AS and PS looked at each other, and AS spoke again:


‘#@!*^$, try your acting skills somewhere else. BSE has started putting out the winning offers for the auctions on the notice board from today. Check it out. And, by the way, we know this is not the first time you have done this. $%%#@, you watch out, we will make you pay for this dearly.’


I was at a loss for words, and that left them in no doubt whatsoever about my culpability. Then PS stepped closer to me. ‘Kid, you are from Dombivli, aren’t you? I have heard the trains on that route are quite crowded . . . ’ and then, his voice dropping to a whisper, he went on, ‘ . . . and people regularly lose their limbs or lives falling off packed trains.’


This time they had rattled me well and good. I stood rooted there for nearly a minute after the duo had left. My hands were trembling, and I instinctively thrust them into my pockets to not let them show. I reflected on what they, especially PS, had said. Perhaps it was a spontaneous outburst arising from wounded pride at being outsmarted. Yet, knowing their uncouth ways, I was worried that they would go to any extent to settle scores. After all, how much would it cost to hire two goons to fix me in Dombivli itself, and make it look like a street brawl or a mugging attempt gone awry?


I had friends in the market, but none in whom I could confide my inner fears. I had half a mind to complain about the duo to the authorities in the exchange. But I saw little point in doing that since these two rogues were quite influential. More worryingly, I could not complain without running the risk of my misdeeds being exposed. There was a real chance that they would carry out their threat of causing me physical harm. At the same time, I did not want to give them the impression that I was beaten. So, in the following settlement, I undercut them in two stocks, but chose those which did not cause either AS or PS a huge loss. I steered clear of the large offers in which they were involved.


For the next couple of months, I would take a good look around before boarding or getting off the train. I also made it a point to position myself away from the footboard except while boarding or alighting.
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AS and PS would try to finger me whenever they could. I had become competent at sourcing decent lots of stocks. So if I bought a certain number of shares of company X on the floor, I knew which broker would be interested in buying that lot, and would accordingly strike a deal to sell the shares to him at the earliest. Similarly, if I had sold stock Y, I knew which broker would be looking to sell a similar lot, and I would buy it off him to square up my position.


AS-PS were curious to know whom I was sourcing shares from or selling to, and asked their lackeys to keep track of me in the ring. Owl (I named him so because of his saucer-shaped eyes) was one such jobber who owed his existence to the duo and was forever ready to carry out their bidding.


Most brokers of any significance had hotlines on the trading floor. This helped their office convey clients’ orders and also helped other brokers or jobbers reach out to them with a deal. After I struck a large deal – by my standards – on the floor, I would call up the concerned broker on his hotline and ask him if he was interested in trading with me.


Once Owl and I were competing on the same stock. I bought a sizeable chunk at a good price, and then called the office of a broker who I knew was interested in that stock. The dealer at that broker’s office asked me to call back in fifteen minutes while he checked with his boss. When I called back after fifteen minutes, the dealer said he was not interested. I found it a bit odd because I knew for certain that the broker had been scouting around for the stock. But I did not give much thought to the incident. When I casually mentioned this to a fellow jobber, he told me that he had seen Owl call on the same hotline shortly after I had made my call. It was only then that I realized Owl was keeping tabs on the brokers I was talking to. I am sure he would have passed on the details to his masters who then offered a better quote to those brokers and snatched the deal from me.


I had to be careful the next time, but before that I decided to have some fun at Owl’s expense. I found a chance a couple of days later. I had bought a block of Dr Reddy’s Laboratories and knew a broker who would be interested in it. But I did not call the broker straight away. I first picked up a couple of hotlines at random and got the dealers at the other end worked up by talking some arbitrary stuff. Owl could not hear what I was saying but presumed that I was trying to offload the Dr Reddy’s shares to those brokers. I knew that Owl would ring those brokers the moment I hung up on them. But I wanted to know how Owl would react when he realized he had called up the wrong brokers. By then I had become friendly with a jobber named Prakash, a couple of years older than I, who agreed to eavesdrop on Owl for me. Sure enough, when I left after my calls, Owl walked up to the hotline, probably relishing the thought of stealing another deal from me. He did not notice Prakash who was close by, overhearing his end of the conversation.


‘If you are looking to buy Dr Reddy’s, I have a much better rate for you . . . oh . . . not interested . . . well, okay . . . sorry . . . no, but I thought . . . okay . . . I am really sorry,’ said Owl, keeping the receiver down. A similar conversation followed on his next call. It had not occurred to Owl that I had played a trick on him.


Two days later I did something similar. This time, realization dawned on Owl that I could be misleading him. He must have reported everything to his masters, for soon one more person was assigned to tail me. This time I dialled four brokers at random before placing the right call.


Owl and the other spy seemed to have had enough of the abuses that came their way from calling the wrong brokers. The AS-PS clique left me in peace after that.


Or rather, I thought so. But I was mistaken. Outwardly, their hostility towards me ceased somewhat, and once in a while even the usually gruff PS would greet me with a smile in the ring. I felt the past was forgiven and forgotten. Little did I know that the duo was patiently waiting for an opportunity to get back at me. And, one day, I myself gifted them the chance they had been looking for.


It was a fairly busy noon when Owl walked up to me inquiring about the rates I was offering for Apollo Tyres. We had dealt with each other a few times after the hotline snooping affair, and things had gone off smoothly. I had no reason to suspect anything. I quoted my rate; Owl said he wanted to sell 500 shares. I bought them off him. He asked the rate for another 500, and I gave him the same quote. He then said he wanted to sell some more. I instinctively felt Owl was trying to pull a fast one on me. I quoted a lousy rate so that he would walk away, but to my surprise he sold me another 500 shares, and asked for still another quote. I quoted an even lousier rate, increasing the spread sharply so that it looked obvious that I was trying to blatantly overcharge him.


I was expecting him to make some scathing remarks and walk away in a huff. But he again surprised me.


‘Arre Lala, you are trying to kill me by quoting such rates,’ he whined.


‘It is up to you whether you want to take it or not,’ I said disdainfully.


‘You have become a big man, Lala, but that does not give you the right to treat small jobbers like me with contempt,’ he protested.


I wanted to walk away, but the fellow wouldn’t let me. Even though I had become a bit more tolerant of him lately, I certainly had no love lost for him.


‘My rate stands, take it or leave it,’ I said.


‘The spread you have quoted is so wide that somebody could sell 50,000 shares of Apollo Tyres at this price,’ Owl said.


By now I was really annoyed with him, and decided to insult him outright so that he would not prolong the discussion.


‘50,000 shares eh? Well, if you have them on you, sell now. You have a buyer in me,’ I said, fully aware that Owl did not deal in big quantities.


‘Don’t be so arrogant, Lala. I know you don’t have the capacity to buy 50,000 shares. And you think you can make fun of me like that?’ Owl said angrily.


I was pleased with myself now that I had managed to get him worked up. Somewhere during our conversation I recalled how he had managed to snatch at least two good deals from me. The memory of those losses made me want to inflict pain on him.


‘You don’t worry about whether I have the capacity to buy 50,000 Apollo Tyres or not; your concern should be whether you have those many shares to sell,’ I said smugly.


I did not realize he was playing to a plan.


‘Fine, Lala, I accept your offer. Sold to you, 50,000 Apollo Tyres,’ he said, and quickly whipped out his sauda pad, noting down the deal.


I was stumped. It was true that I did not have the capacity to deal in 50,000 shares. While my boss had not specified any position limits, it was understood that I would not take excessive risks. After all, if the jobber defaults on his obligation, the broker has to make up for it.


I had taken Owl on because I knew that he did not deal in such large quantities either. Besides, it is common on the floor for traders to talk down each other so as to be able to get a competitive rate.


‘Hey, wait . . . don’t joke with such large numbers,’ I said, realizing how perilous the situation could become, and hoping that Owl was just fooling around.


It was now Owl’s turn to hurl barbs at me.


‘Why, what happened, big man . . . did you just wet your pants at the thought of 50,000 shares? The way you were talking, I felt it was loose change for you,’ he said, barely trying to conceal his glee.


The only way out of this mess was to claim the deal never happened, or that Owl had misheard me as having said 50,000 when I had actually said 500. But there were witnesses to our trade; Owl had ensured that. If I backed out of the deal, my reputation would take a knock and others would become less trustful of me.


Another option was to grovel before Owl and request him to cancel the trade. But my pride would not allow that. And even if I did plead with him, he would first savour my discomfort and then still refuse me. If I stood by the deal, there was a high probability of my having to take a loss beyond my capacity. Every one rupee of loss meant I would be out of pocket by Rs 50,000.


I was sure that Owl was fronting for his masters, who seemed determined to force me out of this profession in disgrace. As of now, they had won half the battle.


The settlement was about a week away, and even if I did manage to get out of my position in Apollo Tyres, it was likely to be at a loss. Knowing AS-PS’s hatred for me, they would spread the word that I was desperate to offload 50,000 shares of Apollo Tyres. Anybody looking to buy from me would then try to beat me down on the price. I had nobody to blame for this situation but myself.


Later that day I bumped into AS as I was leaving the ring for my office.


‘I understand you have a big lot of Apollo Tyres to sell. Can I be of help?’ he asked with mock seriousness.


I tried to ignore him, but PS did not give up so easily.


‘Well, Lala, we warned you enough times not to play around with us. And I had promised you that I would make you pay. I hope you have already thought of an alternative profession for after next week,’ he said as he went away.


My situation appeared to be beyond salvage. I tried to picture various scenarios. The best-case scenario would be my making a fat profit on the trade. The chances of that looked next to impossible, especially since my foes would have spread the word that there was a desperate seller hawking 50,000 shares. The next-best scenario was to get out of the position at no-profit-no-loss, but with a lesson learnt in humility. The chances of that too appeared slim. A loss of even one rupee per share would be painful, but I could still prevail on my boss to keep me in the job and work off my debt. A loss of two rupees, and I could not be sure of my job, though I could still plead for leniency; a loss of more than two rupees, and I would have to look for a job outside the stock market; no broker would be willing to hire me after hearing about my blunder.
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